#### CASE NO. 78284

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed TRISHA KUPTZ-BLINKINSOP nka TRISHA MARGOLIS, an in**diivi@6**a2019 04:11 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

VS.

THOMAS R. BLINKINSOP, an individual

Respondent

#### **OPENING BRIEF ON APPEAL**

#### For Appellant TRISHA KUPTZ-BLINKINSOP

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada District Court Case # A-18-783766-C The Honorable Senior Judge Charles Thompson

BENJAMIN B. CHILDS, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 3946 318 S. Maryland Parkway Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 385-3865 Attorney for Appellant TRISHA KUPTZ-BLINKINSOP

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The basis of appellate jurisdiction is NRAP 3A(b)(1), appeal after final judgment. Appeal was timely taken. An Order granting summary judgment in favor of Thomas R. Blinkinsop [referred to herein as Thomas] was filed February 27, 2019, with Notice of Entry of Judgment being filed and served by electronic service on February 28, 2019. [Joint Appendix "JA" 163-166] Thomas filed a separate Declaratory Judgment which was filed March 9, 2019 with Notice of Entry of Judgment being filed and served by electronic service on March 12, 2019. [JA 167-176] Notice of Appeal was timely filed by Trisha Kuptz-Blinkinsop nka Trisha Margolis [referred to herein as Trisha] on February 28, 2019 within 30 days pursuant to NRAP 4(a)(1). [JA 177] with an Amended Appeal being filed March 17, 2019 [JA 178] upon receipt of Thomas' separate Declaratory Judgment.

///

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

The matter should be assigned to Court of Appeals pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(7) as the case involves injunctive relief in the from of quiet title orders.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

ISSUE 1. Whether the district court erred in granting summary judgment to Thomas.

ISSUE 1. Does this Court's holdings in Leven v. Frey 123 Nev. 399, 168

P.3d 712 (2007) and Davidson vs. Davidson, 132 Nev. 709, 382 P. 3d 887

(2016) overrule the holdings in Terrible v. Terrible, 91 Nev. 279, 534 P. 2d 919

(1975) and Univ. of Nevada v. Tarkanian 110 Nev. 581, 879 P.2d 1180 (1994)?

ISSUE 3. Is the holding in <u>Davidson</u> restricted to money judgments?

///

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is a very straightforward case seeking this Court to clarify that the holding in <u>Davidson</u> does apply to non-monetary judgments in divorce decrees. Alternatively, summary judgment can not be granted when material factual disputes exist. Equitable cases are uniquely factually based, making summary judgment inappropriate.

The case presents this Court with an opportunity to affirm the holding in <u>Davidson</u>, or to clarify or overrule that holding.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The parties were divorced May 19, 2009. [JA50 - 55] Multiple parcels of real property were addressed in the Decree of Divorce [JA 53], along with a property settlement payment [JA 51] and multiple personal property allocations. [JA 52 - 53] The Decree of Divorce addressed the jointly owned the Subject Property, known as 2042 Deer Springs Henderson, NV 89074 [JA 53, 3-7], which the parties had owned jointly since October 28, 2005 [JA 41-46].

Neither party took any steps to enforce the provision in the Decree of Divorce regarding the Subject Property. The filing of the district court case was November 1, 2018 [JA 1], over nine years after Notice of Entry of the Decree of Divorce was filed and served. [JA 48 -49]

At the January 15, 2019 hearing Trisha's Motion for Declaratory Relief in the form of Partition was denied, as was her prayer for discovery pursuant to NRCP 56(f), and Thomas' Motion for Summary Judgment was granted by Judge Thompson based on the May 19, 2009 Decree of Divorce. He referred to the Decree, and concluded "That's just not right." [JA 188:18]

Written orders were submitted with Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order being filed February 27, 2019 [JA 164-166] in which the district court expressly ruled that <u>Davidson</u> and that NRS 11.190(1) do not apply in this case. The doctrine of res judicata/claim preclusion pursuant to <u>Univ. of</u> <u>Nevada v. Tarkanian</u>, 110 Nev. 581, 598, 879 P.2d 1180, 1191 (1994) was also cited as a basis for denying Trisha's motions.

Declaratory Judgment was also filed March 9, 2019, attaching the 2005 Page 4 of 17 deed as an Exhibit. [JA 170-176]

Trisha appeals from those rulings.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

This Court's holdings in <u>Leven v. Frey</u> 123 Nev. 399, 168 P.3d 712 (2007) and <u>Davidson vs. Davidson</u>, 132 Nev. 709, 382 P. 3d 887 (2016) impliedly overrules the holding in <u>Terrible v. Terrible</u>, 91 Nev. 279, 534 P. 2d 919 (1975). Thomas relied on <u>Terrible</u> in his legal arguments, which the district court adopted, that equitable estoppel precluded Trisha from arguing that she retained ownership of the Subject Property after the Decree of Divorce was filed on May 19, 2009. [JA 79 - 81] <u>Terrible</u> was impliedly overruled by <u>Davidson</u>.

The district court erred by granting summary judgment in favor of Thomas on equitable issues when there are existing factual disputes.

As succinctly stated in oral argument, Thomas could not enforce the May 19, 2009 Decree of Divorce in family court "Because the family court judge will say the <u>Davidson</u> precludes them because it wasn't renewed and it wasn't Page 5 of 17 brought within six years under 11.190". [JA 188:2-4] Thus, another court is enforcing an order which could not be enforced in the originating court.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for issues regarding summary judgment is de novo. This court reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment de novo, without deference to the findings of the lower court. GES, Inc. v. Corbitt ,117 Nev. 265, 21 P.3d 11 (2001). Summary judgment is appropriate "when the pleadings and other evidence on file demonstrate that no genuine issue as to any material fact [remains] and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law."" McKinney v. Consol. Mortgage Corp., 124 Nev. 1492, 238 P.3d 837, at \*1 (2008) (quoting Tucker v. Action Equip. And Scaffold Co., 13 Nev. 1349, 951 P.2d 1027 (1997)). Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). Summary judgment is proper only if the "pleadings and other evidence on file demonstrate that no genuine issue as to Page 6 of 17 any material fact [remains] and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." <u>Id</u>. (internal quotation marks omitted). When deciding a summary judgment motion, all evidence must be viewed in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party.

The review of a district court's legal conclusions is also *de novo*. <u>Douglas Disposal, Inc. v. Wee Haul, LLC</u>, 123 Nev. 552, 170 P.3d 508 (2007). Likewise, review of statutory interpretation is *de novo*. <u>Liberty Mut. v.</u> <u>Thomasson</u>, 130 Nev 27, 30, 317 P.3d 831, 833 (2014) (citing <u>Washoe Cnty.</u> <u>v. Otto</u>, 128 Nev. 424, 430-31, 282 P.3d 719, 724 (2012)); <u>Cromer v. Wilson</u>, 126 Nev. 106, 109, 225 P.3d 788, 790 (2010) ("The construction of statutes is a question of law, which we review de novo.").

#### B. SCOPE OF THE APPEAL

This appeal raises narrowly confined legal and factual issues. Trisha asserts that the holding in <u>Davidson</u> applies to all aspects of a divorce decree, not just to money judgments. Further, when an additional action is expressly required to implement the terms of a divorce decree and no such action is taken within the statutory deadline, the provision involving that action lapses and is void.

# C. THE NEVADA SUPREME COURT'S UNANIMOUS DECISIONS IN <u>DAVIDSON</u> AND <u>LEVEN</u> IMPLICITLY OVERRULED <u>TERRIBLE</u> AND <u>TARKANIAN</u>

Nevada courts have adopted the doctrine of implicit overruling of precedent. See <u>Harris v. State</u>, 133 Nev. \_\_\_\_\_, 407 P.3d 348 (Nev. App. 2017) (published opinion holding that a subsequent, contradictory decision implicitly overrules prior decisions). The standard for determining whether precedent has been implicitly overruled has been set forth by the Ninth Circuit as follows: "[T]he relevant court of last resort must have undercut the theory or reasoning underlying the priority circuit precedent in such a way that the cases are clearly irreconcilable." <u>Miller v. Gammie</u>, 335 F.3d 889, 900 (9th Cir. 2003); see also, <u>U.S. ex rel Klein v. Omeros Corp.</u>, 897 F.Supp.2d 1058, 1064 (W.D. Wash. 2012) (citing <u>Miller with approval</u>).

The <u>Davidson</u> decision was 41 years after the <u>Terrible</u> decision. <u>Leven</u> was 32 years after <u>Terrible</u>. The simple question is whether <u>Davidson</u> and <u>Levin</u> are contradictory decisions that resulted in <u>Terrible</u> being implicitly overruled. The holding of <u>Terrible</u> was that partition could not be pursued after a divorce decree divided property. Based on the facts of the instant case, and the existence of the <u>Davidson</u> decision, <u>Terrible</u> cannot remain viable.

The same can be said for the holding in <u>Tarkanian</u>, which was decided in 1994. In light of the <u>Davidson</u> holding that divorce decrees lapse just as any other judgment, <u>Tarkanian</u> cannot be relied upon to preclude partition of real property which was addressed by the May 19, 2009 Decree of Divorce as follows:

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that Defendant shall receive as his sole and separate property the real property located at 2042 Deer Springs Drive, Henderson, Nevada. Defendant shall assume, and hold Plaintiff harmless from, any and all encumbrances on said real property. Plaintiff shall execute a quitclaim deed to remove Plaintiff's name from title within 10 days of entry of this decree.

Thomas was well aware that he could have required Trisha to execute a

quitclaim deed to remove her name from the title to the Subject Property.

Thomas never sought to enforce that provision, likely because if he had Trisha would have raised other issues as addressed in her declarations dated November 15, 2018 [JA 39] and January 7, 2019 [JA162] which describe how Thomas stopped paying the mortgage on the 2405 W. Serene Avenue # 814 Las Vegas, NV, which mortgage was solely in Trisha's name. Despite the May 19, 2009 Decree of Divorce requiring him to "assume, and hold Plaintiff [Trisha] harmless from, any and all encumbrances on said real property" [JA 53:10-11], Trisha's November 15, 2018 declaration [JA 39] states :

"Thomas literally made only one payment on the Serene property after the May, 2009 Divorce Decree and made no payments after that time, while receiving rental income until it was foreclosed in 2014. Plus, I bought one of the cars that was in his name. During our marriage Thomas and I invested approximately \$70,000 in renovations and improvements into the Subject Property, paying cash using the proceeds from a Home Equity Line of Credit [HELOC] on another parcel of real property located at 10169 Quilt Tree Street Las Vegas, NV, which HELOC was solely in my name. This HELOC was subsequently discharged in a bankruptcy I had to file in 2011." Trisha's November 15, 2018 declaration [JA 162] states how when she was forced to claim Bankruptcy, the HELOC was forgiven on the Subject Property and was removed, so Thomas had a gain in equity. "Thom has the windfall of this situation to my detriment and is the one with unclean hands."

## D. DECREE OF DIVORCE WAS FILED ON MAY 19, 2009 REQUIRED AN ADDITIONAL STEP AND THE DECREE BECAME VOID

As set forth the quote from the May 19, 2009 Decree of Divorce above, there as an additional requirement after the decree was entered, for Trisha to "execute a quitclaim deed to remove Plaintiff's name from title", which step Thomas never requested. Thomas failed to timely renew the decree, and it lapsed by operation of law.

When the decree was not renewed as required by NRS 17.214<sup>1</sup>, the decree became void. Pursuant to NRS 17.214(1)(a), a judgment must be renewed "within 90 days before the date the judgment expires by limitation."

<sup>1</sup>. The February 27, 2019 Order has a typographical error in the statute citation. [JA166:3]

<u>Leven v. Frey</u> 123 Nev. 399, 168 P.3d 712 (2007) is the seminal case interpreting NRS 17.214. The judgment creditor in <u>Leven</u> timely filed the Affidavit of Renewal, but did not serve the Affidavit until 12 days later, and did not record the Affidavit until 17 days after it was filed, "well beyond the three-day requirement for recording and service." Id @ 399

<u>Leven</u> held by a unanimous decision that absent strict compliance with the time and service requirements of the statute, the judgment is void. Court's decision is unambiguous.

...we conclude that a judgment creditor must strictly comply with the timing requirement for service under NRS 17.214(3) in order to successfully renew the judgment. As Frey failed to comply with this service requirement as well as the recordation requirement, the judgment against Leven was not properly renewed and thus, it expired.

#### CONCLUSION

NRS 17.214 requires a judgment creditor to timely file, record (when the judgment to be renewed is recorded), and serve his or her affidavit of renewal to successfully renew a judgment, and strict compliance with these provisions is required. As Frey did not timely record and serve his affidavit of renewal, he did not comply with NRS 17.214(1)(b) and (3), and thus he failed to successfully renew the judgment. We therefore reverse the district court's order denying Leven's motion to declare void the expired judgment and remand this matter to the district court with instructions that it grant the motion. Id @ 409

Page 12 of 17

Thus, an unrenewed judgment is VOID, not just voidable. VOID. Once expired, the judgment is "dead" and is void and unenforceable. This holding is consistent in other states.

Counsel also located an older Ohio App case, <u>Pavarini v. Rini</u>, 1981 Ohio App. LEXIS 10930 (1981). In that case, the Ohio creditor was trying to enforce a foreign judgment from Arizona. This effort was denied and was appealed. In the appellate opinion, the court said that if the judgment had expired under Arizona law, it was "dead" for all purposes and could not be revived by any means.

<u>Burshan v. Nat. Union Fire Ins. Co.</u>, 805 So. 2d 835 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2001) was Florida collection case in which a creditor was attempting to collect on a New York judgment by garnishing assets in Florida after the judgment had expired. The Florida District Court of Appeals held that untimely proceedings to enforce a final judgment, which Thomas effectively is seeking in his Countermotion, are barred by the statute of limitations. The <u>Burshan</u> case was reiterated in <u>Desert Palace, Inc. v. Wiley</u>, 145 So.3d 946 (Fla. App., 2014).

## E. STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS IN NRS 11.190(1)(a) PRECLUDES THOMAS' COUNTERCLAIM

NRS 11.190(1)(a) requires that "An action upon a judgment" be commended within 6 years. Thus, Thomas is precluded from recovery on his counterclaim because it was filed November 8, 2018 [JA 6], over nine years after the Notice of Entry of Decree of Divorce was filed and served [JA 48].

## F. EQUITABLE ISSUES RELIED UPON THE DISTRICT COURT ARE EITHER IRRELEVANT OR THEY BENEFIT TRISHA

Given the express holding above, Thomas' equitable arguments based on estoppel, waiver, and unclean hands are all irrelevant because those preceded the filing of the case on appeal. They are based on the Divorce of Decree that is now dead for all purposes relevant to the instant proceeding.

In fact, Thomas's equitable arguments should be equally applied against him and merely serve to further justify the result required by <u>Leven</u> and

Page 14 of 17

<u>Davidson</u>, that being that the 2009 Divorce Decree expired, and is void. He certainly has unclean hands as outlined above in that he collected rent without making mortgage payments on the Serene Property, as was required in the 2009 Decree of Divorce, thereby forcing Trisha to file bankruptcy.

#### **CONCLUSION**

This Court should take this opportunity to clarify that (1) <u>Davidson</u> overrules the <u>Terrible</u> decision to the extent that any action based on a divorce decree must be filed within 6 years (2) <u>Davidson</u> applies to property division as well as monetary judgments.

For the foregoing reasons, the judgment below should be reversed with instructions that Trisha has a 50% ownership interest in the Subject Property and the her partition action should proceed.