**IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

TRISHA KUPTZ BLINKINSOP
a/k/a TRISHA MARGOLIS,

Appellant,

v

THOMAS R. BLINKINSOP,

Respondent,

_____ /

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County.
The Honorable Charles Thompson, Senior District Court Judge

Electronically Filed
Sep 24 2019 08:42 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court
Supreme Court Case No. 78283
District Court Case No
A-18-783766-C

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Law Offices of George O. West III
George O. West III Esq, State Bar No. 7951
10161 Park Run Drive, Suite 150
Las Vegas, NV 89145
Telephone : (702) 318-6570
Email: gowesq@cox.net

Attorney for Respondent Thomas Blinkinsop

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

17
18 Under the final divorce judgment, KUPTZ had the absolute and
19 affirmative obligation to tender a quit claim deed to BLINKINSOP on the
20 Deer Springs Property nine and half years ago. *JA 123:3-7 Div. Judg.*
21 Critically, KUPTZ not only agreed to tender said quit claim deed, she was also
22 **ordered** to "fully cooperate" and that she "*shall not unreasonably withhold*
23 *executed of any documents necessary to effectuate the transfer of any*
24 *property specified herein...*" *JA 124; 5-8, Div. Judg.*
25
26
27
28

1 KUPTZ's failure to tender the deed was ***never disputed*** by KUPTZ in
2 opposition to BLINKINSOP's counter motion for summary judgment,
3 KUPTZ never disputed any material fact in BLINKINSOP's separate
4 statement, JA 142-148, nor did KUPTZ offer any reason or other justification
5 for never tendering the quitclaim when she ***was ordered to do so*** in the
6 2009 final divorce judgment. KUPTZ claim was barred by the doctrine of
7 unclean hands
8

10 ARGUMENT

11 **A. AS A MATTER OF LAW KUPTZ WAS ENTIRELY**
12 **FORECLOSED UNDER NRS 125.184 AND THE**
13 **DOCTRINE OF CLAIM PRECLUSION (RES JUDICATA)**
14 **FROM RELITIGATING, CONTENDING OR ASSERTING**
15 **ANY OWNERSHIP INTEREST WHATSOEVER IN THE**
16 **DEER SPRINGS PROPERTY, WHETHER IN LAW OR IN**
17 **EQUITY.**

18 Summary judgment is appropriate where issue preclusion bars a
19 claim. *Kahn v. Morse & Mowbray*, 121 Nev. 464, 474, 117 P.3d 227, 234
20 (2005). *Elyousef v. O'Reilly & Ferrario, LLC*, 126 Nev. 441, 443, 245 P.3d
21 547, 548 (2010). Whether claim preclusion is available is a question of law
22 and is reviewed de novo. *G.C. Wallace, supra*.

23 As a threshold matter, interpretation of NRS 125.184 is at the very
24 heart of this action with respect to the binding nature and claim preclusive
25 effect of a property rights right's adjudication and distribution under a
26 summary and uncontested divorce proceeding pursuant to NRS 125.181 et
27
28

1 seq, which is inclusive of NRS 125.184. Yet despite this,' KUPTZ avoids any
2 analysis, or even any mention of it in her briefing,

3
4 KUPTZ and BLINKINSOP both agreed to have KUPTZ's Complaint for
5 Divorce be summarily disposed of pursuant to NRS 125.181 et seq, *JA 117*,
6 *Req. for Summ. Dispo.*, *JA 120-125; Div. Judg.* The dissolution of their
7 marriage, and the division and adjudication of all of KUPTZ's and
8 BLINKINSOP's community, joint and separate personal and real property,
9 and debts, was ***uncontested*** and agreed to by KUPTZ. *JA 120-125; Div.*
10 *Judg.* NRS 125.184 is ***CRYSTAL CLEAR*** with respect to the binding nature
11 and preclusive effect of a divorce decree under a summary [uncontested]
12 divorce proceeding. NRS 125.184 states:

13
14
15 ***Entry of the final judgment upon a petition for a***
16 ***summary proceeding for divorce CONSTITUTES A***
17 ***FINAL ADJUDICATION of the rights and obligations of***
18 ***the parties with respect to the status of the marriage***
19 ***AND THE PROPERTY RIGHTS OF THE PARTIES*** and
20 waives the respective rights of the parties to written notice of
21 entry of the judgment or decree, to appeal, to request findings of
22 fact and conclusions of law and to move for a new trial.
[emphasis added].⁵ [emphasis added]

23 ⁵ See also *Davidson v. Davidson*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 71, 382 P.3d 880,
24 882 (2016), [holding that ***the decree of divorce is a final judgment.*** It
25 adjudicates all of the parties' rights regarding child custody and support,
spousal support, ***and the division of property.***] [emphasis added]

26 With very limited statutory exceptions under Chapter 125 of the NRS
27 regarding spousal maintenance, or child support or custody, wherein the
28 Family law court has continuing jurisdiction to modify those provisions of a
divorce decree, a divorce decree in all other respects is a final binding

1 In particular, with respect to the Deer Springs Property, the divorce
2 decree ordered, adjudged and decreed *JA 123-124, Div. Judg.:*

3
4 **IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED** that Defendant shall receive as
5 his sole and separate property the real property located at 2042 Deer Springs Drive, Henderson, Nevada.
6 Defendant shall assume, and hold Plaintiff harmless from, any and all encumbrances on said real
7 property. Plaintiff shall execute a quitclaim deed to remove Plaintiff's name from title within 10 days
8 of entry of this decree.

9 **IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED** that both parties shall fully
10 cooperate with each other and shall not unreasonably withhold execution of any documents necessary
11 to effectuate the transfer of any property specified herein, and if parties fail to cooperate, the Clerk of
12 Court is authorized to execute any document on behalf of either party upon presentment of this Decree;

13 The general rule of issue preclusion is that if an issue of fact or law was
14 actually litigated and determined by a valid and final judgment, ***the***
15 ***determination is conclusive in a subsequent action between that***
16 ***parties.*** The doctrine provides that any issue that was actually and
17 necessarily litigated in [case I] will be estopped from being relitigated in
18 [case II]. *State, Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys. v. Sutton*, 120 Nev. 972, 983–84,
19 103 P.3d 8, 16 (2004).
20
21
22
23

24 judgment like any other judgment. ***The adjudication in the final***
25 ***divorce judgment that the Deer Springs Property was the sole***
26 ***and separate property of BLINKINSOP divested and***
27 ***extinguished any and all interest whatsoever KUPTZ had in that***
28 ***real property, and that adjudication was absolutely binding on***
KUPTZ.

1 The doctrine is intended to prevent multiple litigation causing vexation
2 and expense to the parties and wasted judicial resources by precluding
3 parties from relitigating issues they were or could have been raised in a prior
4 action concerning the same controversy. *Univ. of Nevada v. Tarkanian*, 110
5 Nev. 581, 598–600, 879 P.2d 1180, 1191–92 (1994), holding modified
6 by *Exec. Mgmt., Ltd. v. Ticor Title Ins. Co.*, 114 Nev. 823, 963 P.2d 465
7 (1998).⁶

10 ***Claim preclusion, or merger and bar, is triggered***
11 ***when a judgment is entered.*** A valid and final judgment on
12 a claim precludes a second action on that claim ***or any part of***
13 ***it*** ... If the defendant [in the previous action] prevails, the
14 plaintiff [in a subsequent action] is thereafter barred from
15 subsequent suits on the same claim. See Restatement (Second)
16 of Judgments § 24 (1982). ***The modern view is that claim***
17 ***preclusion EMBRACES ALL GROUNDS OF RECOVERY***
that were asserted in a suit, as well as those that could
have been asserted, and thus has a broader reach than
collateral estoppel. [emphasis added]

18 For res judicata to apply, three pertinent elements must be
19 present: **(1)** the issue decided in the prior litigation must be
20 identical to the issue presented in the current action; **(2)** the
21 initial ruling must have been on the merits and have become
22 final; and **(3)** the party against whom the judgment is asserted
23 must have been a party or in privity with a party to the prior
24 litigation, *id.*

25 ⁶ The “modification” to the opinion in *Tarkanian* by *Exec. Mgmt* is **not**
26 applicable in the instant action. *Exec. Mgmt* still reaffirmed *Tarkanian* with
27 respect to claim preclusion, but *Exec. Mgmt* strictly dealt with the issue vis-
28 à-vis *permissive counterclaims and cross claims* under NRCF Rule 13, and
only within the context of subsequent litigation between **former Co-**
Defendants in an previous action, which is not involved or implicated in
the instant action.

Moreover, it has been clearly held in Nevada that a former spouse is **precluded** under the doctrine of claim preclusion from seeking a subsequent partition of marital assets relating to a division of property that was previously adjudicated under a divorce decree. In *Doan v. Wilkerson*, 130 Nev. 449, 454–55, 327 P.3d 498, 502 (2014) the Court held:

... Historically, our case law has held that ex-spouses may **not** bring independent actions to partition after the final judgment of the court **unless they show fraud upon the court...**⁷

In addition to seeking a dissolution of her marriage, KUPTZ also specifically sought an adjudication and equitable division of all community and separate property assets and debts **as between herself and BLINKINSOP**. The real property that was encompassed within the marital estate *included the Deer Springs Property, supra. JA 123; 4-7, Div. Judg.*

KUPTZ put her property ownership and/or rights in the Deer Springs Property **directly at issue** in her previous divorce action because it was part of the marital estate, and in her prayer, she requested an adjudication

⁷ While *Doan* had to do with denying a partition of a pension plan that was part of a marital estate, the applicability of the rule in *Doan* with respect to real property is no different. KUPTZ has not, and cannot make any credible or viable argument that any type of “fraud” was perpetrated upon her, upon the Court, or that the divorce decree is the product of some sort of fraud or overreaching by BLINKINSOP. *JA 1-2, Comp, JA 30-60, Kuptz. MSJ, JA, 149-162, Kuptz Opp. to Blink. cnt. mot for MSJ.*

1 and equitable division of the party's marital and separate property. *JA 110-*
2 *113 Div. Comp, and JA 120-125, Div. Judg.* Any ownership interest or rights
3 KUPTZ previously had in the Deer Springs Property, based on the October
4 2005 grant deed, whether in law or in equity, were **fully and entirely**
5 **adjudicated** in the underlying divorce action. *JA 123: 3-7, Div. Judg.*
6 More specifically, KUPTZ's previous ownership interest in the Deer Springs
7 Property under the October 2005 deed was entirely and forever terminated,
8 severed, dissolved and extinguished because BLINKINSOP was adjudicated
9 to have 100% ownership in the Deer Springs Property, subject to existing
10 encumbrances. *JA 123: 3-7, Div. Judg.*

14 It is axiomatic that if a party seeks a partition of real property, in order
15 to have *any valid grounds or claim* to do so, that party seeking partition is
16 **required** to have some sort of ownership interest in the real property at
17 issue. KUPTZ had no ownership interest in the Deer Springs Property when
18 she filed the instant action for partition, nine years after her ownership rights
19 were severed and terminated via the 2009 final divorce judgment. *JA 123:3-*
20 *7. Div. Judg.*

23 Those same issues involving KUPTZ's purported "ownership interest"
24 and/or equitable distribution and division of the Deer Springs Property,
25 which were previously adjudicated via the 2009 final divorce judgment, **are**
26 **identical** to the issues raised in KUPTZ's subsequent partition claim. *See*
27
28

1 *JA 1-2, Comp; JA 120-125, Div. Judg. **Element number one was met.***

2 KUPTZ and BLINKINSOP agreed to an uncontested “summary divorce
3 proceeding” pursuant to NRS 125.181 et seq, *JA 117, Req. for Summ. Div.,*
4 *JA 120-125, Div. Judg.* They reviewed and executed the divorce decree,
5 which was then subsequently approved and signed by the judge and then
6 filed with the Court. *JA 120-125, Div. Judg.* That divorce decree adjudicated
7 the Deer Springs Property as BLINKINSOP as the ***sole and separate***
8 ***property.*** *JA 123:3-7, Div. Judg.* This was a judgment on “on the merits
9 and was final” with respect to the party’s property rights pursuant to NRS
10 125.184. *See NRS 125.184 supra and JA 120-125, Div. Judg. **Element***
11 ***number two was met.***

12 Finally, KUPTZ is the party against whom BLINKINSOP sought to
13 assert the res judicata effect of the prior divorce judgment. BLINKINSOP
14 was also the same adverse party to KUPTZ to the underlying divorce action.
15 *JA 1-2, Comp., JA 120-125, Div. Judg. **Element number three was met.***

16 If there was a “textbook” case of claim preclusion after a final real
17 property distribution in a divorce judgment under NRS 125.184, this would
18 be it. Based on the evidence before the trial court, there was no genuine issue
19 of material fact that KUPTZ had any ownership interest in the Deer Springs
20 Property, and BLINKINSOP was entitled to judgment as a matter of law.
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

1 **B. KUPTZ WAS FORECLOSED FROM MAKING ANY NEW**
2 **ARGUMENT, ASSERTION OR CLAIM RELATING TO**
3 **ANY OTHER REAL PROPERTY THAT WAS ENCOM-**
4 **PASSED WITHIN THE FINAL DIVORCE JUDGMENT**

5 Summary judgment is framed by the pleadings. Nevada is a notice
6 pleading jurisdiction and pleadings are construed to place matters into issue
7 which are ***fairly noticed*** to the adverse party. *Nutton v. Sunset Station,*
8 *Inc.*, 131 Nev. 279, 291, 357 P.3d 966, 974 (Nev. App. 2015). However, notice
9 pleading cannot be construed so liberally so as to deprive a Defendant ***of***
10 ***fair notice*** of other additional claims or material allegations at the
11 summary judgment stage relating to other material subject matters, which
12 were never plead, averred to and never put at issue by the Plaintiff, ***prior to***
13 summary judgment.
14

15
16 Furthermore, it has long and widely been held that a Plaintiff, in
17 opposition to a summary judgment, may ***not*** raise new claims for the first
18 time in response to the moving party's summary judgment motion. At
19 the summary judgment stage, the proper procedure to assert a new claim is
20 to amend the complaint in accordance with Rule 15(a). *Tucker v. Union of*
21 *Needletrades, Indus. & Textile Employees*, 407 F.3d 784, 788 (6th Cir.
22 2005)⁸
23
24
25

26
27 ⁸ *Pickern v. Pier 1 Imports (U.S.), Inc.*, 457 F.3d 963, 968 (9th Cir.
28 **2006**) [same]; *Tucker v. Union of Needletrades, Indus. & Textile Employees*,
407 F.3d 784, 789 (6th Cir. **2005**) [same]; *Avillan v. Donahoe*, 483 F. App'x

1 Consequently, KUPTZ was precluded from attempting to collaterally
2 raise other purported claims or material allegations involving other real
3 properties that were also encompassed in the final divorce decree, which was
4 something KUPTZ attempted to do in: **(1)** her motion for summary
5 judgment, *JA 29 & 34; Decl. of Kuptz and Kuptz MSJ*, **(2)**, in her written
6 opposition to BLINKINSOP's counter motion, *JA 162; Decl. of Kuptz*, **(3)**
7 during the oral argument on the competing motions, *JA 87:4-9, MSJ Trans.*,
8 and **(4)**, still continues to assert these unplead and additional material
9 issues/claims on appeal, when they were never alleged in the Complaint.
10 *Open. Brf. p. 10 and JA 1-2, Comp.*

14 Perhaps KUPTZ was attempting to include these new material
15 allegations and material issues in her moving papers, and in her opposition
16 to BLINKINSOP's counter motion, in order to try and preserve these "new"
17 material issues on appeal, so as to avoid having them brought up for "the first
18 time" on appeal. Notwithstanding, KUPTZ cannot "bootstrap" or otherwise
19 attempt to "preserve" these new issues on appeal when KUPTZ was
20 precluded from raising these new and material issues ***in the first instance***
21 on summary judgment.

26 637, 639 (**2d Cir. 2012**) [same]; *Barclay White Skanska, Inc. v. Battelle*
27 *Mem'l Inst.*, 262 F. App'x 556, 563 (**4th Cir. 2008**); *Shanahan v. City of*
28 *Chicago*, 82 F.3d 776, 781 (**7th Cir. 1996**)

1 What KUPTZ was attempting to do was to essentially amend her
2 Complaint "on the fly" via her summary judgment and in opposition to
3 BLINKINSOP's counter motion for summary judgment, which is something
4 KUPTZ is precluded from doing. *See Trucker, supra, and fn. 8, supra.*
5 KUPTZ had every opportunity to properly amend her Complaint prior to
6 filing her motion for summary judgment.
7
8

9 Furthermore, KUPTZ had the right to discovery and could have
10 engaging in acquiring discovery, but she chose not to do so, and instead chose
11 to file her motion for summary judgment right out of the gate. Ironically,
12 KUPTZ contended at the hearing that she "needed discovery" to enable her
13 to adequately oppose BLINKINSOP's counter motion, which segues into the
14 next point.
15
16

17 KUPTZ's glaring contradiction with respect to her Rule 56(f) request is
18 now on full display. *JA 160; Decl. of Kuptz Counsel.* KUPTZ most certainly
19 could have plead these other material allegations and claims relating to the
20 other real properties in her initial complaint, or she could have sought to
21 amend to properly add them via Rule 15. But instead of attempting to raise
22 these other material and unpled claims and/or material issues the proper
23 way, she kept them in her back pocket to try and avoid summary judgment
24 being granted against her.
25
26
27
28

Moreover, KUPTZ's Rule 56(f) request was futile, because her counsel was requesting discovery only relating to KUPTZ's "newly" asserted issues relating to these other properties ***which she never put at issue in her Complaint***, and therefore any additional discovery would be entirely irrelevant with respect to obtaining any probative facts involving the only property did KUPTZ put at issue, which was the Deer Springs Property. *JA 1-2, Comp.*

C. KUPTZ IS ESTOPPED FROM ASSERTING OR SEEKING A PARTITION BECAUSE OF HER PREVIOUS AGREEMENT TO RELINQUISH ANY AND ALL OWNERSHIP INTEREST IN THE DEER SPRINGS PROPERTY VIA THE UNCONTESTED DIVORCE DECREE

KUPTZ contended in her motion for summary judgment that the right to partition is an “absolute right.” *JA 36:20-22, Kuptz's MSJ*. It is not an "absolute" right. *Terrible v. Terrible*, 91 Nev. 279, 534 P.2d 919 (1975). First, KUPTZ had to demonstrate she had an ownership interest in the property, (which she did not), and second, a claim for partition is strictly an equitable claim grounded entirely upon equitable principals. *See Terrible, id.* KUPTZ was estopped from seeking partition of the Deer Springs Property via a subsequent action after the divorce decree became final.

KUPTZ agreed to relinquish, surrender and give up any and all ownership interest she had in that Deer Springs Property. *JA 120-125, Div. Judg.* KUPTZ further ***agreed and conceded*** that the Deer Springs

1 Property was the sole and separate property of BLINKINSOP. *JA 123:3-7,*
2 *Div. Judg. In exchange* BLINKINSOP agreed to hold KUPTZ harmless
3 from any liability on all encumbrances on the Deer Springs Property, and
4 assume all liabilities on the property, which would have also included the
5 first mortgage **and** the HELOC.⁹ *JA 123:3-7 Div. Judg.*

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